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These proceedings were convened 1o deal with the discharge of Mr. Felice Ciccone (the
“Grievor”) from his employment as a Screening Officer with Garda Security Screening inc.
("Garda”) at the Thunder Bay Airport. The Grievor was represented throughout by the
United Food and Commercial Workers Union Local 175 (the “Union™).

BACKGROUND

Atthe time of his discharge, the Grievor had been a Screening Officer for 10 years. During
the Grievor's 10 year tenure, the contract for security screening at the Thunder Bay Airport
was held first by Paragon Protection Services, then by Aeroguard and finally in 2011, itwas

assumed by Garda.

Garda is a security company which provides, amohgst other things, pre-board screening
("PBS"} at a number of airports in Canada, including the Thunder Bay airport. PBS is the
screening of passengers, their carry on baggage and their personal belongings prior to
boarding an aircraft. The Canadian Airport Transport Security Authority (“CATSA") is a
Canadian Crown Corporation responsible for security screening in eighty-nine designated
airports in Canada. CATSA was created as part of the government of Canada’s response
to the events of September 11, 2001, it reports to the government of Canada through
Transport Canada. CATSA has contracted with Garda to provide PBS services at a
number of airports throughout Canada and since 2011 Garda holds a contract with CATSA
to provide the screening services at the Thunder Bay airport.

The various job duties of a screening officer are as follows:

)] Boarding pass security scanning: The Screening Officer scans the passengers’
boarding passes outside the security checkpoint by using a hand held scanner;

fi) Entry/access position: the Screening Officer stands next o a table and conveyor
belt. He puts baggage and plastic bins containing items such as lap top computers,
keys, coins, etc., onto the conveyor, which is equipped with rollers. The baggage
and plastic bins are then conveyed through the X-Ray machine;
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iit) X-Ray position: the Screening Officer views the screen which reveals the contents
. of the baggage and the personal belongings of the passengers which have been
placed in the plastic bins, in order to determine if prohibited objects are contained

in the baggage or personal items;

iv) Bag search position: the screening officer has to physically search the bags that
have been identified by the Screening Officer at the X-Ray position as possibly
containing prohibited objects;

v} Walk-through metal detector: The Screening Officer requests each passenger to
walk through the metal detector. If the passenger iriggers the detector alarm, the
Screening Officer must perform further screening procedures such as:

(a) The use of a hand-wand device to detect metal objects (“hand held metal
detector™;

(b) A partial or full physical search, commonly known as a “pat down”;
(c) A scan of the body using a full-body scanner (“FBS”);

(d} A trace of a passenger’s hands, using explosive detection technology.

The duties and responsibilities of each security company, including Garda, that has been
contracted by CATSA to provide airport security are governed by CATSA’s Screening
Contractor Manual (*SCM"). In accordance with the SCM, Garda is responsibie for
managing the recruitment of staff, and co-operating with CATSA to ensure the use of staff
that are trained, designated and certified within the CATSA training certification program.

Garda is also responsible for maintaining a record of Screening Officers who have been
certified and for ensuring that only designated Screening Officers are certified fo work on
a screening line. Further, Garda is responsible for ensuring that the Screening Officers are
certified to operate X-Ray equipment (in accordance with Health Canada requirements)
and ensuring that only certified Screening Officers operate X-Ray equipment. Tothatend,
Garda must comply with the Designation Standards for Screening Officers (“DSS0”) as
outlined in the SCM, when hiring and re-certifying its Screening Officers, in accordance
with Transport Canada Security and Emergency Preparedness. The DSSO, therefore,
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provides that every Screening Officer must meet certain requirements, prior to being hired

and every two years thereafier.

In particular, each Screening Officer must be certified by a medical doctor to be in good

general physical health in accordance with the following criteria:

a) having vision not less than 6/9, (20-30); with or without correction;
b) exhibiting normal colour perception;

c) having normal hearing without hearing aid(s), based on a whisper test 3 meters (9
feet); and

d) being in good general health.

in addition, and in accordance with the SCM, it is Garda’s responsibility to ensure that its
staff are trained, designated and certified within the CATSA national training and

certification program.

The relevant sections of the DSSO and the SCM, to which the parties made reference are

as follows:

SCREENING CONTRACTOR MANUAL

1.1 General Responsibilities

Screening - Manage the recruitment of staff.

personnel - Cooperate with CATSA to ensure the use of staff that are trained,
designated, and certified within the CATSA National Training and
Certification Program.

- Maintain a record of Screening Officers who
— have been designated, and ensure that only designated
Screening Officers who are certified are working on line,
and
— are certified to operate X-ray equipment (in accordance with
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Health Canada requirements) and ensure that only certified
Screening Officers operate X-ray equipment.

Manage requests for accommodation in line with CATSA’s
Accommodatfion for Screening Officers Policy (see Section 1.6 of this
chapter).

- Implement CATSA's interpretations and policies for operating

equipment and managing screening operations.

- At applicable airports, ensure that CATSA Regional Management

is promptly informed when there is an issue in the service-level
quality of CATSA’s bin and line cleaning providers {e.g., poor
cleaning of metal tables, divestiture bins, WTMDs, X-ray machines
and floor mats).

- Ensure that printed material provided by CATSA is available for
display at the screening checkpoint {e.g., information on signs,
notices, and insignias) at bilingual-designated sites in both of
Canada’s official languages with equal prominence.

- Maintain a BPSS Log Binder at each checkpoint, with 10 or so
copies of the Problem Log Sheet at the front of the binder.

- When persons are passing through the screening checkpoint, watch
for items that could set off the walk-through alarm, with the goal of
reducing the activation of the alarm and the inconvenience to other
persons.

- Ensure that the persons do not access the sterile area until the
screening process is completed.

1.5 Screening Officer Accommodation

Background

Who can
request an
accommodation

Screening Contractors are required 1fo follow CATSA’s
Accommodation for Screening Officers Policy.

Note: CATSA recognizes that Screening Contractors, as employers,
have processes to address accommodation requests from Screening
Officers. The information that follows refers specifically to
accommodation requests that fall under CATSA's areas of
responsibility.

- Screening Officers
- Screening Officer Recruits



Grounds for
accommodation
requests

Duty to
accommodafte

Areas of
responsibility
for accommo-
dation

Under the Canadian Human Rights Act, Screening Officers are
entitled to request accommodation if they are at a disadvantage in
the workplace because of their

- race

- national or ethnic origin

- colour

- religion

- age

- sex (including pregnancy)

- sexual orientation

- marital status

- family status

- disability, or

- conviction for which a pardon has been granted.

Depending on the situation, CATSA or the Screening Contractor (or
both) may have a duty to accommodate, which means taking
whatever measures necessary, up to the point of undue hardship, to
allow Screening Officers to work to the best of their ability.

Depending on the situation, either CATSA or the Screening
Contractor may be responsible for decisions concerning Screening
Officer accommodation.

The areas that each is responsible for a listed below:

Screening Contractor CATSA

- scheduling and flexible | - operations (SOPs
work arrangements directives etfc.)

- collective agreements | - training (learning

- hiring and selection disabilities etc.)
process - certification

- employment-related - uniform requirements
policies (e.g. vacation | - Designation Standards
accrual, leave for Screening Officers
requests), procedures, (DSSO)
practices.

Note: While the areas of responsibility for decisions on
accommodation requests are distinct, in some
situations both CATSA and the Screening Contractor
may be required to take measure to accommodate.



CATSA
responsibilities

CATSA’s responsibilities with respect to accommodation requests

are to

- exercise good faith when evaluating accommodation requests

- ensure that accommodation requests are processed in a timely,
respectful and confidential manner

- minimize the need for individual accommodation by ensuring that
policies, procedures, practices and decisions are not discriminatory,
and

- establish, implement and monitor a Screening Officer accommad-
ation policy and communicate it to Screening Contractors.

1.5 Screening Officer Accommodation, Continued

Medical report

Appealing
CATSA’s
decision

When an accommodation request is made for medical reasons, the

Screening Officer’s limitations and the possible accommodations must

be described in a report completed by a physician. Screening

Contractors must ensure that the following information is included:

- prognosis

- description of limitations or restrictions to regular functions, and

- if possible, an estimate of how long the limitation or restriction will
last (i.e., when is the Screening Officer likely to retumn to regular
functions?).

If a request for accommodation is denied on the grounds of undue
hardship or any other grounds, CATSA recognizes the continuing
right of Screening Officers or Screening Officers Recruits to make a
complaint under the Canadian Human Rights Act.

9.2 Designation Standards for Screening Officers

Designation

Designation
Standards for
Screening
Officers {prior

Designation, the authority to conduct “authorized searches” as
defined in the Aeronautics Act and the Canadian Aviation Securily
Regulations, is authorized by the Minister of Transport.

Note: Screening Officer Recruits must be designated before they may
conduct screening at a live line at a Canadian designated airport.

For a Screening Officer {o be designated, the following must
be met. Prior to being hired a Recruit must

be:

- 18 years of age, and



to being hired)

Designation
Standards for
Screening
Officers (upon
being hired)

Screening
Officer Medical
Examination
Report

Revoked
Designation

R

- a Canadian citizen or permanent resident as defined in the
Immigration Act with an employment authorization document

hold a valid

- Screening Officer Medical Examination Report (section 9.2)
and

- Transportation Security Clearance (see section 8.1 of this
Chapter)

understand, speak and write one or both of Canada’s official
languages.

Upon being hired, a Recruit must

- successfully complete CATSA's training program as required

- meet the criteria required to obtain Screening Officer
certification, and

- continue to meet the Designation Standards identified above.

Recruits and Screening Officers must meet the reguirements
set out in the Screening Officer Medical Examination Report.

The report is used to confirm that a Screening Officer is fit for
duty. Screening Contractors must ensure the Report is
completed

- prior to hiring a new Screening Officer Recruit

- prior to a Screening Officer’s returning from medical leave, and
- every two years after a Screening Officer is hired.

Note: If there are concerns about the Report's validity, the
Screening Contractor must take necessary steps to ensure
that the information is accurate.

Note: The Report is a Protected B document when completed,
and must be treated in accordance with the security
requirements in Chapter 6 of this manual.

Designation may be revoked when a Screening Officer
- is voluntarily or involuntarily terminated by the employer
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fransfer and
employment
termination

10.1 Certification

QOverview

Decertification

How to
maintain
certification
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- is decertified, or
- does not meet Designation Standards

The Screening Contractor must inform CATSA’s Training and

Cerification Coordinator when a Screening Officer

- transfers to another airport as Transport Canada may need to
reissue the designation, or

- has their employment terminated

Note: See Section 10.3 of this Manual for details

Certification is part of the NTCP and consists of a formal process of
evaluation and validation of a Screening Officer Recruit’s
competencies.

Under the CATSA Act, CATSA has authority to

- establish criteria that outlines the qualifications, training and
competency expectations of Screening Officers

- certify Screening Officers against this criteria, and

- vary, suspend or cancel a Screening Officer's certification if it
determines that the Screening Officer no longer meets the criteria.

Screening Officer Recruits become certified by successfully
completing the Screening Officer Foundations (SOF) Program. Once
certified, a Screening Officer is authorized {o screen passengers, non
passengers and their belongings at designated Canadian airports.

If a Screening Officer does not meet or maintain certification criteria,
CATSA’s Local Decision Board (LLDB) may recommend to CATSA’s
National Decision Board (NDB) to decertify the Screening Officer.

Note: When a Screening Officer's employment is terminated, their
certification is revoked.

Screening Contractors are responsible for providing Screening
Officers with an environment that supports continuous leaming and
maintaining screening skills through coaching and mentoring.
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To maintain their certification, Screening Officers must:

- meet the certification requirements listed in the Training Manual

- meet the requirements of the Recurrent Learning Program (RLP),
and

- work a minimum of sixteen hours per month at pre-board screening
(PBS) as foliows:

— 8 hours on X-ray and physical search of baggage, and
~ 8 hours on any other pre-board screening (PBS) function.

Should a Screening Officer not demonstrate screening competency,
immediate corrective actions must be taken by the Screening
Contractor.

Note: Additional information on the RLP is available in the Training
Manual.

Screening Contractors must ensure that Screening Officers

- conduct screening in accordance with certification criteria

- work the minimum hours required to maintain certification, and

- meet RLP requirements.

Screening Contractors must also

- inform CATSA when a Screening Officer takes a leave of absence

- ensure that the procedures are followed when a Screening Officer
returns from a leave of absence (see Chapter 2 of the Training
Manual)

- appropriately manage performance events

- maintain documentation on certification in a Screening Officer's
training file (see Section 10.3, Program Administration, of this
Manual}, and

- Inform CATSA when a Screening Officer's employment is terminated
{see Section 10.3 of this Manual).

DESIGNATION STANDARDS FOR SCREENING OFFICERS

4, HEALTH

Applicants must be certified initially and every two years thereafter by a medical
doctor to be in good general physical health, according to the following criteria:

(a) having vision not less than 6/9 (20/30) with or without correction;
(b)  exhibiting normal colour perception;



-10-

{c) having normal hearing with or without hearing aid(s), based on a whisper test
from 3 metres (9 feet); and
(d)  being in good general health.

THE EVIDENCE
Testimony of Mr. Joe Burcul

Mr. Bureul, the General Manager of Operations for Garda, began his career with Garda on
November 15, 2011. Priorto 2011, he worked for Aerogard, the previous service provider.
Mr Burcul oversees security at eleven of the regional airports in Ontario. He testified that
a Screening Officer must have normal colour vision and if a Screening Officer has a colour
vision problem, he longer meets the DSSO Standard. Therefore unless he is
accommodated, the Screening Officer would lose his certification and could no longerwork

as a Screening Officer.

Mr. Burcul testified that he became aware of the Grievor's condition, known as colour
blindness, at the end of April 2013. As a result, he contacted Ms. Angiolina Vindetti,
Garda’s Site Security Manager at the Thunder Bay Airport, and requested that she review

the Grievor's most recent medical report.

Mr. Burcul said that some time later, Ms. Vindetti telephoned him to advise that she had
reviewed the Grievor’'s medical report and it did indicate that the Grievor had a colour vision
deficiency. Mr. Burcul said that he then instructed Ms. Vindetti to tell the Grievor, on his
next scheduled shift, that he needed to have a new medical completed. He further asked
Ms. Vindetti to give the Grievor a blank medical form to have it completed by his doctor.
Mr. Burcul told Ms. Vindetti that in the interim, the Grievor must not perform any work on

the X-Ray machine.

Mr. Burcul said that around the beginning of May, 2013, the Grievor provided Garda with
a new medical report which revealed that he did not have normal colour vision. Mr. Burcul
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forwarded the Grievor's medical report to Mr. Israel Morin, Garda's Regional Human
Resources Manager. Mr. Burcul said that Mr. Morin then sent a request for
accommodation form to Ms. Vindetti for the Grievor to complete. Mr. Burcul explained that
Section 1.5 of the SCM contains the accommodation procedure, in the event there is a
need to accommodate a Screening Officer. He said that Section 1.5 provides that in order
for the accommodation process to be friggered, the Screening Officer must sign the

request for accommodation.

it was Mr. Burcul's understanding that Mr. Morin had set May 15, 2013, as the deadline for
the Grievor to sign the request for accommeodation form. On May 15, 2013, Mr. Burcul
travelled to Thunder Bay for a staff appreciation luncheon. After the luncheon had ended,
Mr Burcul metwith Ms. Colby-Flank, the union representative, the Grievor and Ms. Vindetti.
At the meeting, Ms. Flank and the Grievor asked why the accommodation request form
needed the Grievor’s signature. Mr. Burcul said that he produced a copy of the DSSO and
explained that under the DSSQ, CATSA not Garda, required the Grievor's signature. He
said that he explained the provisions of the DSSQ, in particular the medical section. The
Grievor asked, “How did you come to the point of picking on me? Why are you having me
do a medical?” and “How did you find out?” According to Mr. Burcul, at one point during
the meeting, Ms. Flank told the Grievor, “if | were you | would sign the document, it doesn’t
mean you have to drop the fight, you can keep fighting but at least it means you still have
ajob.”

At the end of the meeting, the Grievor requested to speak to Mr. Morin and also requested
an extension of time to allow him to consider the accommodation request form. The

Grievor was given an extension until Friday May 17, 2013.

On May 17, 2013, Mr. Burcul received the following email from the Grievor:

Dear Mr. Burcul,

| have considered my oplions and utilized any available resources to the best
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of my abilities within the given time frame set out by Mr. Morin. My deadline
is today at 12 pm but | will be occupied between 11 am and 4 pm today, so
| will respond in this e-mail. As you know, | have worked with CATSA since
2002. My colour vision deficiency was always known, yet | have passed all
official CATSA, Paragon, Aeroguard, Garda and Transport Canada tests, as
well as trained new screeners on the x-ray position on behaif of CATSA, and
passed all XRT requirements, while assisting several other screeners in
doing the same. (In the Garda Employee Manual, on page 41, it stated that
“individual certification is XRT performance based...") My colour deficiency
has never been an issue in regards to my job, and the test results in your
possession speak to that fact. It is my understanding that if | do not sign the
request for accommodation form 1 will be without a valid CATSA medical.
This is untrue. My medical does not expire for another year, and is fifled out
according to CATSA requirements. My medical was reviewed and accepted
when it was competed(sic), as well as the other medicals | have completed
throughout the years. Why my colour deficiency now poses a problem is still
a mystery to me. While speaking with you on May 14, 2013, | asked for any
kind of additional proficiency test to prove to you my abilities. | was told
there was no testing available. Your basis for accommodation is flawed, and
your accommodation of permanently removing me from all x-ray positions is
not based on any real knowledge of my individual disability other than the
results of a Farnsworth test.

One of the x-ray units that you wish to permanently remove me from displays
the primary image only in black and white. You said the reason the company
requested the accommodation was for health and safety purposes, yet | am
held to the same standards as all other individuals who work for you. [f there
is a health and safety issue with me, then there should be health and safety
issues with everyone. | will also state, as | have before to you and Mr. Morin,
that | can see all the colours that appear on the x-ray screen, and that all
people see colours differently, but it does not mean that I cannot see them
at all. 1 will clearly state that because colourblindness (sic) is a disability,
which is a prohibited ground of discrimination, and because the Canadian
Human Rights Act states that:

7. ltis a discrimination practice, directly or indirectly,
(a) to refuse to employ or continue to employ any individual
or

(b) in the course of employment, to differentiate adversely in
relation to an employee
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on a prohibited ground of discrimination

j feel that | am being discriminated against by Garda/CATSA by being forced
to permanently cease fo operate all x-ray equipment and being banned from
returning to work until § sign the request for accommodation, even though |
have passed all testing requirements that any able bodied individual who
works on those machines would have to pass. it is for this reason that | will
not be signing the request for accommodation, and | have begun to file a
complaint with the Canadian Human Rights Commission via the Canadian
Human Rights Act with myself as my representative. At this time | will
simultaneously be filing a grievance with the UFCW. As | am aware this is
also in violation of the ‘CODE OF ETHICS, CONDUCT AND CONFLICT OF
INTEREST FOR THE EMPLOYEES OF CATSA’ and | feel the Office of
Primary Interest should be made aware. As per our last conversation, | will
attempt to follow the appropriate chain of command, so | ask you to please
forward this to Mr. John Stroud, Vice-President, Human Resources and
Corporate Affairs of CATSA, and let me know he has been made aware.
Since | will be representing myself within regards o the Human Rights Act
violation, | respectfully ask you o keep me infarmed throughout this entire
process directly. If you have any questions please fee! free to contact me by
e-mail, or if you choose you may call me at 807-476-7621 and leave a
message, and | will get back to you as soon as possible. Thank you.

Felice Ciccone

Subsequent to receiving the Grievor's email, Mr. Burcul spoke to Ms. Flank about the
Grievor's emailed statement that he was refusing 1o sign the accommodation request. Ms.
Flank said that she would speak to the Grievor. Mr. Burcul said that he left it at that. He
then spoke to Mr. Morin and they decided to give the Grievor another opportunity to sign
the accommodation request form. As a resulf, a letter was sent to the Grievor dated May
22, 2013, requesting that he sign the form and warning him of the consequences shouid

he fail to do so.

In cross-examination, Mr. Burcul agreed that he did not contaci CATSA with regard to the
Grievor’s accommodation. He further agreed that nowhere in the accommodation process
does it state that the Screening Contractor can impose accommodation on someone.
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Asked if April 2013 was the month that the Grievor had taken issue with entering the FBS?
Mr. Burcul agreed that it was April. When he was asked fo explain the circumstances of
the issue with the FBS, he said that the Grievor had concerns about going into the FBS
because of exposure to radiation. The Grievor, therefore, refused to enter the unit citing
health and safety reasons. Mr. Burcul said that when he was informed that there was an
issue with the FBS, he contacted the health and safety committee at the Thunder Bay
Airport, which consistied of Ms. Vindetti and Ms. Flank and another union representative

whose name Mr. Burcul could not recall.

Mr. Burcul was asked if the Grievor, at the meeting on May 15, 2013, asked if he [Mr.
Burcul] would conduct a functional individual assessment on the CGrievor to determine if he
couid perform his duties? Mr. Burcul replied that the Grievor did make such a request. He
said that he told the Grievor that he would make that requestto CATSA, as such a decision
was not one for Garda to make. Asked if during the meeting of May 15, 2013 he started
to yell at the Grievor? He denied yelling and said he was not one to yell.

Mr. Burcul agreed that he did not provide the Grievor with any contact information for
CATSA nor did he forward the Grievor's email, dated May 17, 2013, to CATSA. He further
agreed that, to his knowledge, the Grievor had always passed his yearly certification with
Garda and with the previous security employers at the Thunder Bay Airport. Mr. Burcul
agreed that there was a testing component for the X-Ray machine but denied any
knowledge that there are black and white X-Ray monitors. To his knowledge, he said, they

are all colour.

Mr. Burcul was pressed in cross-examination, by Union Counsel, Mr. Hamud, about the
qualifications of Dr. Ulakovic (the physician who completed the medical report concerning
the Grievor's colour vision on May of 2013). Counsel for Garda objected to this line of
guestioning and in the absence of the witness [Mr. Burcul], | asked Counsel for the Union
to explain his reasons for this line of questioning. Counsel informed me that the Union was
taking the position that Dr. Ulakovic, unlike Dr. Yesovitch, whom the Grievor had attended



-15-

for his 2012 check-up, was not properly qualified to administer the Farnsworth colour
blindness test. Therefore, Counsel maintained, it was incumbent on Garda fo inguire and
to satisfy itself that when an employee is required to have a medical test performed, that
it is performed by a qualified practitioner. Counsel provided me with a College and
Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario site search, with respect to Dr. Yesovitch, which
confirmed, in his view, that she was qualified to perform the Farnsworth test. The
document further provided, which in my view is noteworthy for reasons that | will fouch on
later, that Dr. Yesovitch was still in medical practice at the exact same location as when
the Grievor visited her in 2012. After a short discussion on the topic, Counsel decided not

to continue this line of questioning.

Testimony of Mr. israel Morin

Mr. Israel Morin testified that he is very familiar with the Screening Officer's
accommodation process. When he assumed the responsibility for Human Resources with
Garda in 2012, CATSA personnel contacted him and asked if he would review the entire

accommodation process.

Mr. Morin explained that in order for a Screening Officer to retain his certification from
CATSA he must work a minimum of 16 hours per month on the following duties:

1) 8 hours of Personal Search of Person and the X-Ray machine.

2) 8 hours of any other Pre-Boarding Screening, for example: Personal Search of Bag
or Walk through Metal Detector.

If a Screening Officer is not able to maintain the required hours, on any of these positions,
he must be accommodated in order for him to retain his certification.
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Mr. Morin said that when he received the information that the Grievor was colour blind he
prepared the accommodation request form for the Grievor's signature. On it he wrote,
“This Screening Officer has not a normal colour vision”. He sent it to Ms. Vindetti and
instructed her to give it to the Grievor. Further, he spoke with the Grievor, by phone, on
May 10, 2013, and explained the need for the accommodation request due the Grievor's
latest medical signed by Dr. Ulakovic confirming that he did not have normal colour vision.

Mr. Morin explained that an employee with a disability can still work as a Screening Officer
once CATSA approves an accommodation, be it temporary or permanent. The
accommodated employee would continue to work his regular shift and receive the same
rate of pay. All other employment conditions would remain as per usual, save that the

employee would not be required to perform the exempted duties.

Mr. Morin said that he spoke to the Grievor by telephone on May 10, 2013 and during the
conversation he explained fo him the need for accommodation in order for the Grievor to
retain his position as 'a Screening Officer. Mr. Morin further explained that the
accommodation would exempt the Grievor from working on the X-Ray machine. Mr. Morin
said that he also told the Grievor that in order for the accommodation process fo
commence, the Grievor was required to sign the accommodation request form. Mr. Morin
said that the Grievor informed him that he needed some time to think about it and Mr.
Morin granted him more time. After their conversation Mr. Morin sent the Grievor the

following email:
“| agree to extend your time frame. For this reason, the employer request
(sic) to you that you provide the request for accommodation before Friday
May 17", 2013 before 12:00

Obviously, during this period you are not allowed to work

If you cannot contact Angie [Ms. Venditti] at this moment you can contact Mr.
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Joe Burcul. He is aware of your situation

Mr. Morin, subsequently, received a copy of the email from the Grievor which was sent to
Mr. Burcul, dated May 17, 2013, advising Mr. Burcul that he [the Grievor] was refusing to

sign the accommodation request.

Mr. Morin also received a copy of the following email, from the Grievor, dated May 22,
2013, which was addressed to Ms. Venditti:

Hello Angie,

As per our conversation yesterday | am sending you this email to get the
answers o a few questions and {o make it clear that | wish to be involved at
every step of this situation. Please forward this to the appropriate person(s)
so that my questions can be answers (sic) as accurately and truthfully as
possible. Thank you.

To whom it may concern:

I would like to ask, in the future, would the company please directly respond
to my questions in relation fo this discrimination complaint regarding ail
matters involved. The union is also to be informed in all matters but since |
will also be representing myself [ wish to be contacted and directly informed.
 was never told | was terminated. | was never responded to when | sent an
email to mr. (sic) Burcul on Friday May 17, and | received no communication
since then from the company. To my surprise, | called Angie Venditti
yesterday and | was fold that she was informed my shifts were fo be given
away. This is no way fo treat an individual in a matter such as this. Please
keep me informed as this incident continues. That being said | would like to

KNow:

1. What is the status of my employment/vacation pay/ all monies owed?

2. Who would be the respondant (sic) in a Human Rights Violation?
Would it be CATSA, or Garda? | will also need the name and
telephone number of the CEO of the respondant, as well as the
mailing address.

3. t would like copies of all of my past medicals as well as results from

all of my testing.
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Thank you for you (sic} time. Please let me know the answers to these
questions as soon as possible.

Ms. Venditti forwarded the emait to Mr. Burcul, who passed it on to Mr. Morin.

After receiving the Grievor’s email of May 22, 2013, Mr. Morin spoke to Mr. Burcul and they
decided to give the Grievor one last chance to comply with the accommodation process.
Mr. Morin prepared a letter and sent it to Mr. Burcul for his signature. The letter reiterated
the attempts taken to date to have the Grievor participate in the accommodation process
and concluded by informing the Grievor that, without his co-operation in the
accommodation process, Garda would not be able to proceed alone. Therefore, Garda

would have no alternative but to terminate his employment.
The Grievor responded with the following e-mail dated June 3, 2013:

it has been since May 10, 2013 that Garda has wrongfully removed me from
my duties as a screener. | do not feel that this situation has been handled
appropriately by Garda management. Since our conversation on May 13,
2013 | have respected your request of not speaking with anyone other than
you, or Angie Venditti, in Garda or CATSA, regarding this matter. On May
17", 2013 | had asked that CATSA be made aware of this situation, and for
the names and contact information of those who | would submit as the
respondents in a Human Right complaint. You have not given me this
information and | have not been made aware that CATSA has been
contacted. | feel the need to speak with CATSA directly regarding this
matter, as | feel there is a fair amount of confusion and misinformation
regarding this matter. | will state again, as | have before, that my colour
deficiency does not, in any way, affect my performance on any x-ray
function. This is well known by my employer and can be seen by reviewing
my testing results. | have not been asked if it does, or been given any
chance to prove my skills. In fact, in my May 10" conversation with Isreal
(sic), t was told that “(my) competency (on the x-ray position) is not important
for this case”. If competency isn't the issue, then what is? Am 1 being
unfairly targeted for something that | have lived with my whole life that |
cannot control, even if it has nothing to do with the real issue of public
safety? During this entire ordeal | have been threatened with the loss of my
job, if | do not sign your request for accommodation, multiple times. The
truth is that | do not require accommodation, and | am still at a loss as to why



-19-

something like this would come up after 10 years of flawless operation. You
stated in your letter dated May 27", 2013 that on May 7, 2013 | presented
you a form which showed | did not have normal colour vision. This is not
true, since Garda and CATSA knew of my colour deficiency well before
hand. Garda would have known since they won the contract and took over,
and CATSA has known for many years. | have also revealed this information
to all of my previous managers and co-workers. You stated that my CATSA
medical form is not up to date. This is also not true. | have attached a copy
of my most recent medical. This medical is dated April 27, 2012. This
medical was filled out by a medical doctor, specifically to the standards set
out by CATSA on that medical form. This is the same form which is being
used as the current medical form. It is valid for two years from the date of
examination. It also shows that the doctor performed the required CATSA
testing under the section asking if the screener has normal colour vision.
The doctor had a choice, as determined by CATSA, of performing the Isharia
test OR the Fansworth D15 test, as is clearly stated on the CATSA medical
document. The doctor performed the Isharia test, and stated that | did not
have normal colour vision, as | was Red/Green deficient. She attached
those results to the medical exam report and the medical was turned into
Garda. The medical was filled out according to CATSA requirements. |took
part in the colour testing, the results were noted, and the examination was
accepted as it has been for the past 10 years that | have worked for CATSA.
| feel this situation is not only discriminatory but through it | have been made
to look incompetent as a screener, and as a person, in the eyes of my
employer, my co-workers and peers. As well, | am being financially
burdened by the spontaneous suspension of my duties, and the denial of my
banked vacation pay by yourself. As | have passed all required testing, and
proven myself on the x-ray function repeatedly, | feel that my colour
deficiency does not play any role in the health and safety of other individuals
including the travelling public, and that my x-ray threat detection skills are an
asset to CATSA, not a danger. ! feel that normal colour vision does not
stand as a bonafide work requirement, since | am colour deficient and 1 am
very skilled at all x-ray functions. | have no issue, as | have stated before,
in taking any extra testing that Garda or CATSA would like, but | do not feel
that | should have been removed from my duties until | have been proven
incompetent in the same way any able bodied screener would be. {will not
sign your form requesting accommodation, Mr. Burcul, because | do not
require any accommedation fo perform my job duties. | have no problem
returning to work and resuming my full duties, and 1 will gladly do so when
you allow me, but | will not sign your request for accommodation if that is the
only way | can ‘actively participate’. In my opinion, that is not active
participation. What you want me to do is sign a document that means | am
admitting to CATSA that | need to be removed permanently from all x-ray
functions, the best parts of my job, and all of this for no reason. You have
attempted to restrain me from speaking to anyone regarding this matter, and
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| have not been able to get a hold of my union representative since you sent
me that letter, so this is the best decision | can make under these current
circumstances. [t is unfortunate that after giving a decade of my life to
CATSA | am being told that | cannot do my job because something that was
well known, documented, and does not affect job performance in any way.
On top of that | have not been given any chance is disprove the perceived
incompetence you have painted me with. That, however, is something which
I cannot control. What | do know is that if | ever have to prove my x-ray skills
to a third party, the question of colour deficiency will hold no weight in
relation to my abilities. Please inform me to what the next steps in this
process are as soon as possible. '

After receiving this email, Mr. Morin prepared the Grievor’s termination letter, dated June
13, 2013, for Mr. Burcul's signature and it was subsequently sent to the Grievor. Mr. Morin
explained that the Grievor was terminated from his employment because he was unable
to maintain his certification as a Screening Officer due to his refusal to participate in the
accommodation process. Mr. Morin stated that in the previous year Garda had, through
CATSA, accommodated two employees with colour blindness, one in Toronto and one in
Ottawa.

Under cross-examination, Mr. Morin admitted that the Grievor's prior medical, dated April
27, 2012, indicated that the Grievor had a vision problem, yet he was still certified for all
his duties. He said he raised this matter with Mr. Burcul, in 2013, when he learned of the
2012 medical. Mr. Burcul, he said, told him that the failure to cafch the issue of the
Grievor’s colour blindness was negligence on the part of the Screening Point Manager at
the time, wha has since been terminated. Mr. Morin agreed that he did not inform CATSA
that a Screening Officer [the Grievor], known to be colour blind, had been working for
Garda for one and one half years. He said he did not want Garda to look bad.

Mr. Morin agreed that due to the Grievor’s colour blindness the proposed accommodation
would be permanent. He agreed that the Grievor would no longer be able to work on the
X-Ray machine. Mr. Morin further agreed that at the conclusion of the meeting on May
10, 2013, he told the Grievor that he would no longer be allowed to work. When asked why

not leave the Grievor at work while he considered the accommodation request, Mr. Morin
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replied that it was because the Grievor did not co-operate. It was put to him that the
Grievor had 30 days left on his current 2 month Screening Officer certificate, so why not
fet the Grievor work for the 30 days while he considered the accommodation? Mr. Morin

answered, “You are right, | couid have.”

Mr. Morin said that he did not respond to the Grievor's request in his email for a
competency test on the X-Ray because, as he explained to the Grievor on May 10, 2013,
it was not a matter of competency. The DSSO requires screeners who operate the X-Ray
machine to have normal colour vision, therefore, he was not interested in exploring
accommodation that would allow him fo operate the X-Ray machine. Mr. Morin said that

he did not forward the Grievor's correspondence to CATSA.

When Mr. Morin said that when he received the Grievor's medical, he informed Mark Duda
of CATSA that the Grievor had been performing the Screening Officer job for the last year
and a half while colour blind. Mr. Duda suggested an audit be conducted of all medicals
of Screening Officers across the country. The audit revealed that four employees in
Toronto and one in Ottawa should not have been certified as Screening Officers, without

accommodation.

Mr. Morin was asked a number of questions about X-Ray training. He replied that he was
not a training expert. He agreed that the testing is to test one’s ability fo identify threats.

Testimony of Ms. Angiolina Venditti

Ms. Venditti testified that she has been Garda's site manager at the Thunder Bay Airport
since June, 2012. She said she was hired as a Screening Officer and shortly afterwards
became a supervisor. She said that she knew the Grievor not only because they work
together, but that he is her cousin’s son. She said that she has known about the Grievor's
colour vision problem issue since 2010. At that time, she noticed that the medical form he
submitted did not have all the boxes “ticked”. Armed with that knowledge, Ms. Venditti
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approached Andrew Lorch, the Site Manager at the time, and asked him if she should input
the Grievor's medical information into the system. He said it was fine and to just input the

Grievor's dates for certification.

In 2012, when the Grievor gave Ms. Venditti his medical report dated April 27, 2012, there
being no Site Manager at the Thunder Bay Airport, she asked Mr. Burko how to input the
information into the computer system? He told her to ask Mr. Josef, the Site Manager in
Hamilton and ask him to input the information. Ms. Venditti explained that at the time Mr.
Josef was covering for Thunder Bay until the vacant position in Thunder Bay was staffed.
Ms. Venditti further explained that she was unable to input the information into the CATSA
system, because only Site Managers, who had an account with CATSA, were able to
perform that function.

Ms. Venditti said that prior to April 29, 2013, she was not aware that a Screening Officer
could not be certified if he was colour blind. Her words were, “l was not aware this was a
requirement for CATSA”. She said that her boss, Andrew Lorch, had told her it was okay
to input the Grievor's medical results and she had no reason to question him. “He was my

superior,” she said.

In cross-examination, Ms. Venditti said that when she was a Screening Officer she worked
a number of shifts with the Grievor. She agreed that she did not observe him having any
problems with the X-Ray machine. Nor did anyone complain to her of any problems.

The Grievor's Testimony

The Grievor testified that he was first hired to work as a Screening Officer at the Thunder
Bay Airport on September 17, 2001 by Paragon Protection Services. He said that he was
continually employed as a Screening Officer until his termination. At the time of his
termination, he was a Screening Officer, Team Leader (“TL"). In his role as a TL he would
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supervise staff, train staff and observe that the staff were doing their jobs correcily. He

would also schedule breaks and perform other administrative duties.

The Grievor said that when Garda assumed the responsibilities for pre-board screening at
the Thunder Bay Airport, there was a shift in the TL functions from performing training
functions and working at screening duties, to not working screening duties at all, then back
to performing Screening Officer duties. At the time of his termination, the Grievor said he
was performing both Screening Officer and TL functions. Half of his shifts were TL shifts
and the other half were Screening Officer shifts. He said that when he was a TL, he was
not permitted to work on the X-Ray machine because a TL could not waich the workers on
the floor, if he was performing X-Ray functions.

The Grievor said that he was part of a “grand-fathered” group of TLs that were receiving
$2.25 an hour extra when performing TL functions. Whereas, newly hired Screening

Officers would receive $1.00 per hour extra, when performing TL functions.

The Grievor said that prior to Garda assuming the security contract, the TL functions were
called Point Lead ("PL"). As a PL, he trained Screening officers who were having difficulty
passing the XRT regimen. He said this was because he was good at X-Ray and had an
educational, teacher background. The Grievor testified that the first time he had a vision
testwas 2002. He recalled the colour testing involved his ability to identify coloured objects
placed on a table. He said that he believed that he passed that test. The Farnsworth or

isharia fests, he said, were not administered in 2002.

The Grievor described the various tests that were given by both Garda and CATSA which
Screening Officers were required to pass. In his words, he passed all screening tests with
“flying colours”. The Grievor said that the tests are administered to determine a Screening
Officer's ability to identify threats. He said that, unlike other employees, he never had
occasion to “redo” a fest because of failure. After being certified as a Screening Officer in
2002 the Grievor said that he was required to be re-certified every two years. He was
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always re-certified. He never failed once. The Grievor then explained the various forms
of testing that were administered as part of the re-certification process. He identified a
number of his tests results and, suffice it to say, they indicated that on each and every

occasion he passed and indeed on occasion “exceeded expectations”.

The Grievor said that the testing is conducted by a qualified CATSA trainer and on
successful completion he [the Grievor] is qualified to use the various threat detection
machines which would enable him to identify a threat. The Grievor said that at no time did
a CATSA representative ever raise a concern about him not being able to identify a threat
on an X-Ray machine, To the contrary, on both false alarm testing and explosive
detection, which according to the Grievor had a high failure rate, he received a 100%
rating. Both of these, he said, are X-Ray functions.

The Grievor gave an example of a penetration test, which is when someone from CATSA
or Transport Canada attempts to infiltrate the airport with explosives. He said that he was
subjected to such a test once, when he was screening on the CTX machine, and he

immediately initiated emergency procedures and passed the test.

The Grievor described some of the X-Ray machines that he was required to use whilst
performing his duties as a Screening Officer. The Grievor said that he was trained on all
of the X-Ray machines, including the CTX 2000 which has a dual monitor and is used for
checked luggage, located away from the screening area. It shows mostly in black and

white but does show colour to help identify explosives.

The Grievor testified that he told Mr. Sido Quard a CATSA representative, in 2008 or 2010
that he was colour blind. According to the Grievor's testimony, Mr. Quard told him that he
was exceptional despite his colour blindness. The Grievor said that he has told every
supetrvisor, colleague, and CATSA representative that he had a colour deficiency. if the
subject arose he said, he would say so. It was not a secret. He said he told Andrew Lorch
and Ken Irvine, the General Manager for Garda, at the Thunder Bay Airport. He added
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that Mr. Irvine had been terminated and Mr. Lorch no longer worked for Garda.

The Grievor said that he told Ms. Venditti. According to the Grievor, it was a common
occurrence with colleagues to discuss colour blindness. He said that it often came up with
CATSA representatives. When then asked, by Counsel, “Did you ever tell anyone else?”
He modified his testimony and offered “I can't say definitively if | even did tell anyone from
CATSA." He agreed that he did not tell Mr. Burcul.

The Grievor said he has been colour blind all his life and was first medically diagnosed
when he was in the army. The Grievor said that he can see colour butnota specific strand
of red and green. Any colour that comprises these colours he said he cannot see. He said
that, to his knowledge, it has never impacted his ability to detect threats using the X-Ray
machine. Inthe past, he has detected threats and was unaware of any threat he may have

missed that someone else detected.

The Grievor said that he has never been disciplined for his performance nor for making a
mistake when using an X-Ray machine. He related an incident where he detected, by use
of the X-Ray machine, something suspicious in a passenger’s luggage which turned out

to be a can of frozen paint containing $1 5,00'0‘00 in cash and a quantity of oxycontin pills.

At this point in his testimony, Counsel for the Union asked the Grievor to relate the events
that led to his termination. The Grievor said that on April 11, 2013 a group of employees,
himself included, were being re-certified on the FBS machine by a CATSA representative.
He described the FBS as a machine that looks like a phone booth. He said that the
machine uses radiation similar fo that used in a micro-wave oven. There was a
requirement to test the machine each shift to ensure that it was working properly. Unlike
CATSA's previous testing method to ensure the machine was properly functioning, a
Screening Officer was now required to strap various objects to his body and enter the

machine to be screened 15 o 30 times a shift.
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The Grievor said that, based on his knowledge of the machine and its potential healih
hazards, he refused to enter the FBS to be scanned. When he refused, Mr. Sochan, the
CATSA representative, told him he would be fired if he did not enter the FBS machine.

The Grievor said that he asked for clarification and after Mr. Sochan spoke to Ms. Venditti,
the Grievor was told that he would not be re-certified on the machine. According to the

Grievor, another employee, Mr. Mayo, also refused.

The Grievor said he contacted and met with Mr. Jason Sands of Health Canada and filed
a health and safety concern report. Mr. Sands recommended that the joint union
management health and safety committee conduct an investigation. The Grievor said that
an investigation was initiated by the health and safety committee but before it was
completed Mr. Burcul took over. The Grievor stated that Mr. Burcul printed something from
the internet which indicated that the PBS machine was safe. This, according to the

Grievor, was not satisfactory to him or the health and safety committee.

In view of the fact that Mr. Sands had told the Grievor to contact him if any problems arose
with the health and safety investigation, the Grievor did just that. Mr. Sands advised the
Grievor to request that the health and safety committee issue a report of its findings on
completion of its investigation. The Grievor said that he asked Ms. Venditti, the Garda
Health and Safety person and Mr. Jeff Suback, the Union Health and Safety person for a
report. He did not receive one. Rather, he was given another variation of the article
previously produced by Mr. Burcul. At a later point in time, according fo the Grievor,
CATSA issued a Canada wide bulletin which stated that in order to test the machine’s
functioning ability, a Screening Officer had only to enter the machine once not the 1510 30
times as he had been asked to do, which he refused. After CATSA’s bulletin was issued,
the Grievor was again asked to enter the machine to complete his testing and again he

refused.
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On April 29, 2013 the Grievor said he received a call from Ms. Venditti to inform him that
there was a problem with his medical. She said it was something to do with his vision. He
met with Ms. Venditti, in her office, and she told him that he would have to have a new
Earnsworth test administered and to schedule an appointment with an Optometrist. The
Grievor said that when he asked Ms. Venditti how this all came about, she said that Mr.

Burcul had contacted her to request that he provide a new medical.

The Grievor visited Dr. Ulakovic who administered both the Isharia and the Farnsworth
tests which indicated that he was red/green deficient. The Grievor provided the test results
to Garda. As a result, from May 2, 2013 onwards he was not permitted to work at the X-
Ray machine. He was, however, permitted to work all the other functions and he suffered

no loss of wages as a result.

The Grievor said that he was called into Ms. Venditti's office on May 10, 2013 to sign a
request for accommeodation form. He asked to speak to Mr. Morin as he had questions he
wished answered. He said that Ms. Venditti called Mr. Morin by phone while he [the
Grievor] was present in her office. On her first attempt she could not reach Mr. Morin so
she left him a voice message. Ms. Venditti called Mr. Morin a little later and he answered.
The Grievor asked Mr. Morin why his medical was selected. Mr. Morin replied that he had
received information that the Grievor had a colour vision deficiency. The Grievor said he
specifically asked Mr. Morin if he received the information about his deficiency from Ms.
Venditti. Mr. Morin replied in the affirmative. The Grievor said that Ms. Venditti had told
him, prior to May 10, 2013, that she was not the source of the information about his colour

vision deficiency.

The Grievor said he was confused. He had also heard that the information was discovered
by CATSA performing a random review of the employees’ medicals and now he was
hearing that Ms. Venditti had offered the information. Yet, Ms. Venditti told him that she
was not the one who had given Mr. Burcut that information and she had added that it may
have come from Ms. Flanks, the Union Representative. The Grievor said that the
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conflicting stories caused him to be suspicious. This was not the first time, he said, that
CATSA had reprimanded him for a health and safety issue.

The Grievor said he asked Mr. Morin, when colour blindness become an issue for
operations? Mr. Morin replied that it was always an issue but CATSA changed the
[medical] form. Mr. Morin added that now, if an employee had an issue {colour vision
issue], he needs to take the Famsworth test. The Grievor said that at the end of the
conversation with Mr. Morin his suspicion increased. He asked Mr. Morin for more time to
consider matters. Mr. Morin agreed to give him until Wednesday but that the Grievorwould
have to go home without pay until then.

The Grievor said he was given several opportunities to sign the form and each time he
refused. His suspicion was aroused and he wanted to talk to CATSA o get a better
understanding of what was happening and to express his concerns. He also disagreed
with the way the accommodation was presented. in the Grievor's mind, he believed it to
be a violation of his human rights. He said he did not agree that he could not perform the
functions listed on the accommodation request form.

The Grievor said that he attended a meeting on the May15, 2013, with Ms. Flank, Ms.
Venditti and Mr. Burcul. He said he asked Mr. Burcul where the information about his
colour blindness came from? Mr. Burcul replied that it came to Garda’s attention as a
result of CATSA checking all medicals, after an issue arose concerning a Screening Officer
at a different airport.

The Grievor said that at one point during the meeting, Mr. Burcul closed the door then told
him he was not to carbon copy people on his correspondence. The Grievor said Mr. Burcul

appeared angry and was shouting.

The Grievor said that Mr. Burcul explained that accommodation was a normal CATSA
process and he reviewed the DSSO standards with the Grievor. Ms. Flanks asked, “If he
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signs the form can he still fight with CATSA?". Mr. Burcul replied, “Yes, if he signs the form
he can still fight with CATSA”. The Grievor said that he didn't like the atmosphere in the

room.

When asked by Union Counsel, “Why not sign and grieve?” the Grievor said that he felt
that this was an attempt fo remove him from his position. Nothing was guaranteeing that
he would have a job if he signed. He said that he knew that if he signed the form he would
be admitting that he could not work the X-Ray functions.

In cross-examination, Counsel for Garda put to the Grievor that he had never passed a
colour vision test in his entire career as a Screening Officer at the Thunder Bay Airport.
The Grievor answered, “That is not true,” When pressed, he said he remembered one

physician saying that he h